2004

Michael L. Hendry, Douglas Bassett, Five T Corporation v. Unidyn Financial Management Corporation, Douglas Longfellow, G. Lawrence Critchfield, Paul Christensen, Wespac Holdings, LLC, Ken Morgan, Western Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTION**

Defendant appeals from Summary Judgment within this Court's jurisdiction, having been transferred to this court under Utah Code Annotated. § 78-2-2(4) on May 11, 2000.

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

**Issue 1:** The trial court erred by refusing to set aside the judgment in this case after trial was held in the absence of Critchfield and his attorney even though Critchfield through timely motion later informed the court that it mistakenly assumed it had ruled on the Motion to Withdraw as Counsel; therefore the required time to appoint new counsel never began.



**Standard of Review:** Questions of law are reviewed for correctness.

Hebertson v. Willowcreek, 923 P.2d 1389, 1392 (Utah 1996).

Interpretation of the effect of a prior judicial decision is a question of law. State v. Montoya, 887 P.2d 857, 858 (Utah 1994).

A trial court's conclusions of law in civil cases are reviewed for correctness. See S.S. v. State, 972 P.2d 439, 440-41 (Utah 1998); Orton v. Carter, 970 P.2d 1254, 1256 (Utah 1998); A.K. & R. Whipple Plumbing & Heating v. Aspen Constr., 977 P. 2d 518, 522 (Utah Ct. App. 1999). This standard of review has also been referred to as a "correction of error standard." Jacobsen Inv. Co. v. State Tax Comm'n, 839 P.2d 789, 790 (Utah 1992); Sanders v. Ovard, 838 P.2d 1134, 1135 (Utah 1992); Commercial Union Assocs. v. Clayton, 863 P.2d 29, 36 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). As used by Utah's appellate court's "correctness" means that no particular deference is given to the trial court's ruling on questions of law. See Orton v. Carter, 970 P.2d 1254, 1256 (Utah 1998); Pena, 869 P.2d at 936; Rackley v. Fairview Care Ctrs., Inc. 970 P.2d 277, 280 (Utah Ct. App. 1998).

The trial court's interpretation of statutes, rules and ordinances is a question of law reviewed for correctness. See, e.g. Rushton v. Salt Lake County, 977 P.2d 1201, 1203 (Utah 1999); Taylor ex rel. C.T. v. Johnson, 977 P.2d 479, 480 (Utah 1999); Loporto v. Hoegemann, 370 Utah Adv. Rep. 21, 22 (Utah Ct. App. 1999) (judicial code); A.K. & R. Whipple Plumbing & Heating v. Aspen Const., 977 P.2d 518, 521 (Utah Ct. App. 1999).

Whether a statute [or rule] applies to a particular set of facts is a question of law. See Slisze v. Stanley-Bostlitch, 979 P.2d 317, 319 (Utah 1999); State v. Burgess, 870 P.2d 276, 279 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

Trial judges are given “some discretion” in determining mixed questions of fact and law. State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936-40 (Utah 1994).

**Issue 2:** The trial court erred by refusing to set aside the judgment in this case after Critchfield pointed out that, through inadvertence, he was not aware of the trial date.

**Standard of Review:** Questions of law are reviewed for correctness. Hebertson v. Willowcreek, 923 P.2d 1389, 1392 (Utah 1996).

Interpretation of the effect of a prior judicial decision is a question of law. State v. Montoya, 887 P.2d 857, 858 (Utah 1994).

A trial court's conclusions of law in civil cases are reviewed for correctness. See S.S. v. State, 972 P.2d 439, 440-41 (Utah 1998); Orton v. Carter, 970 P.2d 1254, 1256 (Utah 1998); A.K. & R. Whipple Plumbing & Heating v. Aspen Constr., 977 P. 2d 518, 522 (Utah Ct. App. 1999). This standard of review has also been referred to as a “correction of error standard.” Jacobsen Inv. Co. v. State Tax Comm’n, 839 P.2d 789, 790 (Utah 1992); Sanders v. Ovard, 838 P.2d 1134, 1135 (Utah 1992); Commercial Union Assocs. v. Clayton, 863 P.2d 29, 36 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). As used by Utah’s appellate court’s “correctness” means that no particular deference is given to the trial court’s ruling on questions of law. See Orton v. Carter, 970 P.2d 1254, 1256 (Utah 1998); Pena, 869 P.2d at 936; Rackley v. Fairview Care Ctrs., Inc. 970 P.2d 277, 280 (Utah Ct. App. 1998).

The trial court's interpretation of statutes, rules and ordinances is a question of law reviewed for correctness. See, e.g. Rushton v. Salt Lake County, 977 P.2d 1201, 1203 (Utah 1999); Taylor ex rel. C.T. v. Johnson, 977 P.2d 479, 480 (Utah 1999); Loporto v. Hoegemann, 370 Utah Adv. Rep. 21, 22 (Utah Ct. App. 1999) (judicial code); A.K. & R. Whipple Plumbing & Heating v. Aspen Const., 977 P.2d 518, 521 (Utah Ct. App. 1999).

Whether a statute [or rule] applies to a particular set of facts is a question of law. See Slisze v. Stanley-Bostlitch, 979 P.2d 317, 319 (Utah 1999); State v. Burgess, 870 P.2d 276, 279 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

Trial judges are given “some discretion” in determining mixed questions of fact and law. State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936-40 (Utah 1994).

**Issue 3:** The trial court erred when it awarded damages against Critchfield personally and awarded punitive damages without making adequate findings to support the conclusion of fraud and inadequate findings to support the amount of punitive damages ordered.

**Standard of Review:** Trial judges are given “some discretion” in determining mixed questions of fact and law. State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936-40 (Utah 1994).

The findings of fact must show that the court's judgment or decree follows logically from, and is supported by the evidence. Smith v. Smith, 726 P.2d 423, 426 (Utah 1986). Findings must be sufficiently detailed and include enough subsidiary facts to disclose the steps by which the ultimate conclusion on each factual issue was reached.

Acton v. Deliran, 737 P.2d 996, 999 (Utah 1987).

A trial court abuses its discretion when it fails to enter specific, detailed findings supporting its financial determinations. Such findings are adequate only if sufficiently detailed and include subsidiary facts to disclose the steps by which the ultimate conclusion on each factual issue was reached. Id. To permit appellate review of a property and debt distribution, the distribution must be based upon adequate factual findings and must be in accordance with the standards set by this states's appellate courts. Finlayson v. Finlayson, 874 P.2d 843 (Utah App. 1994). Failure to make findings on all material facts is reversible error unless the facts in the record are clear, uncontroverted and capable of supporting only a finding in favor of the judgment. Haumont v. Haumont, 793 P.2d 421, 425 (Utah App. 1990).

#### **STATUTES/RULES**

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 60(b)

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 74(a), (b)

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

1. Nature of the Case.

Appellant, Lawrence G. Critchfield, appeals from the denial of his timely Motion to Set Aside a Judgment against him for an alleged debt, punitive damages and attorneys' fees, taken without his participation.

2. Course of Proceedings.

Critchfield's attorney, Wesley Sine, moved the court for permission to withdraw as

counsel. See Docket attached hereto as Addendum "A". Although the motion was filed 2 ½ months before trial, none of the parties submitted the Motion to Withdraw for decision. Docket attached hereto as Addendum "A". The court did not rule on Sine's motion even at the time of trial. Docket attached hereto as Addendum "A". Sine did not inform Critchfield of the trial date scheduled prior to Sine's Motion to Withdraw. R. 777-809. The court went forward with trial in the absence of both Critchfield and his attorney. Docket attached hereto as Addendum "A". Within ninety (90) days of the entry of judgment, Critchfield filed a motion to set aside the court's judgment pursuant to Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 60(b). R.774-826. Appellant now appeals the court's granting judgment against him and denial of his Motion for Relief from Judgment. R. 965-967.

3. Statement of Facts.

On May 13, 2003, three attorneys appear before the court, Wesley F. Sine, Derek Langton and Timothy W. Blackburn. See Docket attached hereto as Addendum "A". On June 29, 2003 a Motion to Withdraw as Counsel is submitted (by Mr. Sine). See Docket attached hereto as Addendum "A". On July 2, 2003, a note in the docket reads "Notice to submit needed, copy of docket to Mr. Sine." See Docket attached hereto as Addendum "A". The only other entries between July 2, 2003 and trial regard trial briefs and a subpoena. See Docket attached hereto as Addendum "A". The docket shows no Notice to Submit the Motion to Withdraw as Counsel. See Docket attached hereto as Addendum "A". Although an Order Permitting withdrawal is received by the court, it is never filed. See Docket attached hereto as Addendum "A".

Critchfield had express authority from the board of directors of Western to act individually on behalf of the corporation to secure capital to fund the corporation. R. 777-809.

All of Critchfield's actions in regards to the Plaintiffs in this case was in the capacity of a representative of the Western. R. 777-809. A loan of one hundred fifty thousand dollar (\$150,000.00) was made to Unidyn Financial Management Corp. R. 777-809. ("Unidyn") by Plaintiff Five "T" Corporation pursuant to a Promissory Note. Critchfield relied upon this agreement from Unidyn that there would be sufficient backing to repay the Plaintiffs the money loaned to Unidyn. R. 777-809.

Based on information and belief, Unidyn defaulted on the note to the Plaintiffs. R. 777-809. Based on information and belief, because of Unidyn's breach Western was not able to complete the transaction contemplated with Douglas Longfellow. R. 777-809. Critchfield signed a promissory note on behalf of Western on October 21, 1998 which was for the amount of one hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$150,000.00) without interest. R. 777-809.

Critchfield did not ever agree to personally guarantee any debts of Western. R. 777-809. He fully expected that Western would be able to fund the Trust Deed Note with the Nevada property and signed a trust deed note on behalf of the Corporation on October 21, 1998. R. 777-809. Critchfield did not obtain a personal benefit from any of the money loaned by Five "T". R. 777-809.

Upon the commencement of this lawsuit, Critchfield hired Wesley Sine ("Mr.

Sine") to represent him. R. 777-809. Mr. Sine did not give Critchfield notice that the court had scheduled a pretrial conference in this case. R. 777-809. Mr. Sine gave Critchfield no notice of a trial date. R. 777-809.

After receipt of the notice to appear or appoint, Critchfield contacted Alan Mecham, an attorney who had handled business matters for Critchfield in the past. R. 777-809. Mr. Mecham placed a call to Mr. Langton, the attorney who had prepared the notice to appear and appoint to ascertain the status of the case. See Affidavit of Alan Mecham in Support of G. Lawrence Critchfield's Motion for Relief from Judgment attached hereto as Addendum "B".

Mr. Langton did not indicate to Mr. Mecham that the case had been set for trial or that there was a Motion for withdrawal of counsel pending. See Affidavit of Alan Mecham in Support of G. Lawrence Critchfield's Motion for Relief from Judgment attached hereto as Addendum "B". Mr. Mecham did not ever receive a return phone call from plaintiff's counsel, Blackburn. See Affidavit of Alan Mecham in Support of G. Lawrence Critchfield's Motion for Relief from Judgment attached hereto as Addendum "B".

While Critchfield was out of town at the end of September, 2003, he received word from his wife that a trial brief and a subpoena had come in the mail. R. 777-809. Neither document received by Critchfield's wife had a trial date on it. R. 777-809.

Critchfield contacted a friend of his to check the status of trial in this case while he was out of town. R. 777-809. After the fact, Critchfield learned that the court

proceeded with trial that next day after his wife contacted him about the trial brief and subpoena. R. 777-809. A judgment was rendered against Critchfield personally. See Docket attached hereto as Addendum "A"

At no time did Mr. Sine, the court clerk, opposing counsel, or any other person advise Critchfield that a trial on this lawsuit had been scheduled for October 1, 2003 or for any other date. R. 777-809.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This is a classic case of mistake. The court proceeded with trial on the mistaken assumption that Mr. Sine had withdrawn as counsel. On October 2, 2003, at trial, the docket states: "Record to reflect that defendant, G. Lawrence Critchfield, is not present nor represented by counsel. Attorney Wesley Sine has withdrawn as counsel and a Notice to Appear or Appoint Counsel has been filed." However, the Motion to Withdraw was not ruled on by the court; none of the three attorneys pointed this out to the court before trial. Therefore the court proceeded with trial without giving Critchfield an opportunity to appoint new counsel to represent him at trial.

Critchfield was not told the trial date by his attorney, the opposing attorneys or by the court. Critchfield did inquire through a separate attorney as to the status of his deposition but received no further word after June, 2003. When Critchfield did not hear back as to his deposition, he inadvertently left this matter unaddressed.

Even if the court did not believe that the mistake in this case was a sufficient basis to set aside the judgment, the court should have set aside judgment based upon



Critchfield's inadvertence. because of the mistaken impression of Critchfield that his deposition would be required before further proceedings. The failure of opposing counsel to get back to Critchfield as to their intentions with discovery and trial on its own creates a basis for the court to set aside the judgment against Critchfield.

### ARGUMENT

**Issue 1:** The trial court erred by refusing to set aside the judgment in this case after trial was held in the absence of Critchfield and his attorney even though Critchfield through timely motion later informed the court that it mistakenly assumed it had ruled on the Motion to Withdraw as Counsel; therefore the required time to appoint new counsel never began.

The general rule in favor of granting a motion to set aside a judgment is set forth in Westinghouse Electric Supply Co. v. Paul W. Larson Contractor, Inc., 544 P.2d 876 at 879 and Footnote 10. "It is indeed commendable to handle cases with dispatch and to move calendars with expedition . . . but it is even more important to keep in mind that the very existence for courts is to afford disputants an opportunity to be heard and to do justice between them." Id. In the present case, Critchfield was not given his day in court because he had no actual notice of the trial date.

Under Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure the court "may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect. . . ." Although the court has discretion in regards to setting aside

judgment, the court abused its discretion in this case by not allowing Critchfield appropriate notice as to whether he was represented, as to when he would have to appoint counsel and as to when he would have to appear for trial.

It appears from the record that the court at trial mistakenly supposed that Critchfield had been given proper notice of the withdrawal and the need to appoint an attorney or appear. The mistake can be readily identified in the court's docket in this case at pages 16-17. See Docket attached hereto as Addendum "A". On May 13, 2003, three attorneys appear before the court, Wesley F. Sine, Derek Langton and Timothy W. Blackburn. On June 29, 2003 a Motion to Withdraw as Counsel is submitted (by Mr. Sine). On July 2, 2003, a note in the docket reads "Notice to submit needed, copy of docket to Mr. Sine." The only other entries between July 2, 2003 and trial regard trial briefs and a subpoena. The docket shows no Notice to Submit the Motion to Withdraw as Counsel. Although an Order Permitting withdrawal is received by the court, it is never filed. On October 2, 2003, at trial, the docket states: "Record to reflect that defendant, G. Lawrence Critchfield, is not present nor represented by counsel. Attorney Wesley Sine has withdrawn as counsel and a Notice to Appear or Appoint Counsel has been filed."

The Supreme Court of Utah in Smith v. Sperry, 694 P.2d 581 (1984), vacated and remanded an order granted in the absence of a party and his attorney. In that case, it was the plaintiff had not sent out a Notice to Appear or Appoint. The trial court, with notice of the withdrawal of counsel and no Notice to Appear or Appoint (under rule 2.5 the predecessor to Rule 74(b)), proceeded to grant summary judgment in favor of the

Plaintiff. In vacating judgment, the Supreme Court held “the trial judge should have required plaintiff’s attorney to then give notice to Saunders and Ritchins in accordance with Rule 2.5 before proceeding to hear and grant the motion for summary judgment. Since the judgment was entered after the failure of the court to follow one of its own rules, we conclude that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to set aside the summary judgment when the error was brought to its attention.” Id. At p. 583.

The present case is similar to Sperry in that Critchfield was not given the benefit of notice that the court had permitted the withdrawal of his attorney and then given twenty (20) days after that notice to appear or obtain his own attorney. Although a Notice to Appear or Appoint was served in the present case, it did not accomplish the purpose for which it was intended. It was premature, so it gave notice of a withdrawal that had not occurred. The notice of a nonexistent event of withdrawal failed to give Critchfield any notice as to when he would have to appear or to hire his own attorney.

The mistaken assumption by the court goes to the heart of this matter. The court assumes Critchfield is not represented when in fact Mr. Sine has not been permitted to withdraw. It does not appear on the docket that either counsel present corrected the court as to the mistake. The court assumes that there is proper notice to Critchfield in the form of a Notice to Appear and Appoint. However, the Notice to Appear and Appoint is of no effect until there is a withdrawal of counsel, which did not occur in this case. The Motion to Withdraw was never ruled on by the court.

Further the Motion to Withdraw was defective. Rule 74(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure requires: "The motion to withdraw as counsel shall describe . . . the date . . . of any scheduled hearing." In this case, the Motion to Withdraw states: "The case presently has been scheduled for trial in October, 2003. However no specific date is given." Sine was never removed on the court docket as Critchfield's attorney of record. Therefore, Critchfield did not receive notices directly from the court.

Without sufficient notice of the hearing, Critchfield was deprived of his day in court. The judgment rendered in his absence should be set aside.

**Issue 2:** The trial court erred by refusing to set aside the judgment in this case after Critchfield pointed out that, through inadvertence, he was not aware of the trial date.

Critchfield was not told the trial date by his attorney, the opposing attorneys or by the court. After receipt of a Notice to Appear and Appoint, Critchfield did inquire through a separate attorney as to the status of his deposition. Critchfield understood that Mr. Langton would get back to him about rescheduling the deposition. However, Critchfield received no further word about his deposition after June, 2003. Critchfield did not receive any courtesy notice of trial from either opposing counsel. Mr. Langton did not indicate that he intended to proceed to trial without the deposition. Critchfield, having made the last contact through Mr. Mecham had no reason to take further action. At the very most, Critchfield's failure to act was due to inadvertence and justifies the setting aside of the judgment against him.

**Issue 3:** The trial court erred when it awarded damages against Critchfield

personally and awarded punitive damages without making adequate findings to support the conclusion of fraud and inadequate findings to support the amount of punitive damages ordered.

The court could not find that Critchfield had any assets. There is no finding that Critchfield had income. There are inadequate findings of intent to support a case for fraud. The court made no findings as to the intent or knowledge of Critchfield at the time of the alleged representations. The court only found that Critchfield the facts represented by Critchfield did not occur as he promised. However, the findings are inadequate to determine whether the promises were not fulfilled due to events out of Critchfield's knowledge or control.

Even if the findings with regard to intent had been sufficient, without a finding of income or assets, an award of \$25,000.00 in punitive damages is excessive.

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