2004

Michael L. Hendry, Douglas Bassett, and Five "T"
Corporation v. Unidyn Financial Management
Corporation Douglas Longfellow, G. Lawrence
Critchfield, Paul Christensen, Wespac Holdings,
L.L.C., Ken Morgan, Western Real Estate
Investment Trust, Inc., and Does 1-10 : Brief of
Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Even were the court's "mistake" properly before the Court on a Rule 60(b) motion, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in failing to set aside the judgment on this basis.

Critchfield cites Sperry v. Smith, 694 P.2d 581 (Utah 1984), in support of his argument that the trial court's decision should be reversed. In Sperry, the trial court proceeded with trial despite the fact that after defendant's counsel withdrew, plaintiff's counsel failed to file a Notice to Appear or Appoint. The Utah Supreme Court reversed the trial court's decision denying a motion to vacate the judgment because it found that the trial court failed to follow a rule of court in not requiring plaintiff's counsel to prepare a Notice to Appear or Appoint. Id. at 583. However, the instant case is clearly distinguishable from Sperry, because in this case, counsel for co-defendant did send out a Notice to Appear or Appoint, and Critchfield did in fact receive that notice. [R. 777-809] [See also Exhibit "E" hereto].

Critchfield argues that the Notice to Appear or Appoint was defective because his counsel never effectively withdrew. The facts of Sperry are relevant to this point. In Sperry, plaintiff's counsel made the same argument in defense of the fact that it had failed to file a Notice to Appear or Appoint. Id. at 582. The Utah Supreme Court found

that defendant's counsel had "substantially complied" with the rule: he filed the appropriate pleadings, and did in fact notify his client of his withdrawal. Id.

In the instant case, Critchfield's counsel filed pleadings with the court to effectuate his withdrawal pursuant to Rule 4-506. [R. 827-871, and Exhibit "C" hereto]. Perhaps unclear whether a motion was required, he filed a Motion to Allow Withdraw of Counsel and an Order Allowing Withdrawal of Counsel in addition to a Withdrawal of Counsel. [R. 827-871, and Exhibit "C" hereto]. Pursuant to the rule in effect at the time of trial, a motion is required when there is a pending motion or a certificate of readiness has been filed. Utah R. Jud. Admin. 4-506 (1). Critchfield's counsel noted on his Withdrawal that there was no pending motion and a certificate of readiness had not been filed, although a trial was scheduled. He also stated in his motion that "[d]efendants have terminated Wesley F. Sine as their attorney. From the tenor of the termination letter, it would be impossible for Wesley F. Sine to continue as counsel." In addition, he stated that a trial was scheduled in October 2003. Critchfield avers that he did not receive these pleadings.² However, as a practical matter, there is no question that Critchfield was aware his counsel had withdrawn, because Critchfield terminated his counsel under conditions where it would have been impossible for counsel to continue his representation. The Court was also aware that counsel had withdrawn after a trial had been scheduled, because Critchfield's counsel was present at the scheduling of the trial

² The Certificate of Service signed by Wesley F. Sine, indicates that all of these pleadings were mailed on June 12, 2003, to G. Lawrence Critchfield, Western Real Estate Investment.

with the Court. Finally, the court acknowledged at trial that Critchfield was not represented by counsel and that a Notice to Appear or Appoint had been sent.

The trial court clearly has discretion to allow withdrawal of counsel. Washington v. Sherwin Real Estate, Inc., 694 F.2d 1081, 1087 (7th Cir. 1982) (“The grant or denial of an attorney's motion to withdraw in a civil case is a matter addressed to the discretion of the trial court and will be reversed on appeal only when the trial court has abused its discretion.”) Thus, in this case, there was “substantial compliance” with Rule 4-506, and Critchfield’s counsel did effectively withdraw. A “mistake,” if any, was harmless and should have been overcome in any event by some diligence on Critchfield’s part to ensure he was adequately represented by counsel or otherwise make an appearance before the court.

In sum, the issue of whether the requirements of Rule 4-506 were met is a question of law or a “procedural irregularity” that should have been addressed by a Rule 59 motion filed within ten days of judgment. However, even if the issue was properly brought under Rule 60(b), where the Withdrawal of Critchfield’s counsel and the Notice to Appear or Appoint were served 3 ½ months prior to trial, and where Critchfield terminated his own counsel under circumstances making it impossible for the counsel to continue his representation, any failure of the Court in not signing the Order of Withdrawal was a technicality not arising to the level of a “mistake” justifying setting aside the judgment. Thus, the Court’s refusal to set aside the judgment on this basis was well within the discretion of the trial court and should be affirmed.

B. (ISSUE 2). CRITCHFIELD’S ACTIONS IN THIS CASE, OR LACK THEREOF, DO NOT FALL WITHIN THE “INADVERTANCE” PRONG OF RULE 60(b)

Critchfield’s failure to appoint new counsel, and failure to appear at the trial in this matter, do not rise to the level of “inadvertence, or excusable neglect” contemplated by Rule 60(b). Inadvertence and excusable neglect have been used by Utah courts interchangeably, but both require some form of diligence or reasonable action on the part of the party asserting such excuse, to justify the court’s taking action on the basis thereof.

For example, in the context of setting aside a stipulation, the Utah Supreme Court stated that “a court may set aside a stipulation for inadvertence or justifiable cause ‘if the mistake is not due to the failure to exercise due diligence and it could not have been avoided by the exercise or ordinary care.’” Rivera v. State Farm Mut. Automobile Ins. Co., 2000 UT 36, ¶ 11, 1 P.3d 539.

Utah courts have also defined “excusable neglect” as it is used in Rule 60(b) to require some form of due diligence.

Rule 60(b)(1) confers discretion upon a trial court judge to set aside a judgment for “excusable neglect.” We have heretofore defined “excusable neglect” as the exercise of “due diligence” by a reasonably prudent person under similar circumstances. Even if we were to consider any argued distinction between “good cause” and “excusable neglect,” which we expressly decline to do, the undisputed facts here do not support any claim that the employer diligently acted in a reasonably prudent manner in failing to file its response until three weeks after it was due.” With knowledge that the notice was forthcoming and a response was necessary, the employer’s neglect or mistake was not excusable.

Mini Spas, Inc. v. Industrial Commission, 733 P.2d 130, 132 (Utah 1987) (citation omitted).

In the context of setting aside a default judgment, the Utah Supreme Court has stated: “[A] party trying to set aside a default judgment ‘must show that he has used due diligence and that he was prevented from appearing by circumstances over which he had no control.’” Heath v. Mower, 597 P.2d 855, 859 (Utah 1979).

Critchfield has not established that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to set aside the judgment on the basis of “inadvertence or excusable neglect.” Critchfield has not established that he exercised due diligence, or that his failure to appear at trial was for reasons beyond his control. A three-day trial in this matter was scheduled during a telephonic pre-trial counsel with the Court, with Critchfield’s attorney, Wesley Sine, present, prior to Sine’s withdrawing as counsel. [R. 842-890]. Mr. Sine did not withdraw as Critchfield’s counsel until approximately one-month after the trial was scheduled. [R. 842-890, and Exhibit “B” hereto]. There was plenty of time for Sine to inform Critchfield of the trial dates. Moreover, on or about June 16, 2003, attorney for WESPAC Holdings sent Critchfield a Notice to Appear or Appoint. [R. 842-890]. By his own admission, Critchfield did receive such Notice. [R. 777-809, and Exhibit “E” hereto.] There was more than enough time for Critchfield to obtain new counsel prior to the October 1, 2003, trial date. Although Appellant’s counsel argues that the Notice to Appear or Appoint was defective because there had not been a technical withdrawal, this should not have had a practical effect on Critchfield who had no notice of any alleged defect, and who had himself terminated his own counsel. Although Critchfield contacted friends, some of whom were attorneys, to look into matters for him, one specifically informed him he would not be able to enter an appearance in the case. [R. 777-809, and

Exhibit “E” hereto.] Critchfield never did hire other counsel to enter an appearance on his behalf, or appear *pro se* prior to trial.

Additionally, a week before trial, Plaintiffs sent Critchfield a copy of a Subpoena, indicating that Doug Longfellow’s testimony was required in court October 1, 2003. [R. 827-871]. Defendant WESPAC Holdings also sent Critchfield a “Trial Brief” approximately one week before trial. [See Docket entry dated 9-24-03, attached as Addendum “A” to Appellant’s Brief]. Critchfield admitted to having received such documents although he was out of town. [R. 777-809, and Exhibit “E” hereto.] Receiving such documents should have sparked at least curiosity by a *pro se* litigant. If Critchfield was out of town at the time these documents were sent to him, given that he never obtained a new attorney, this does not constitute excusable neglect. The facts of this case are similar to the case of Valley Leasing v. Houghton, 661 P.2d 959, 960 (Utah 1983). There, the Utah Supreme Court affirmed the trial court’s refusal to set aside the judgment based on excusable neglect where defendant failed to appear at trial but sent his wife. The Court reasoned:

In the instant case, defendant had notice for nearly a year prior to trial that his counsel had withdrawn. Counsel had advised him to hire new counsel or to appear on his own behalf at trial, yet he saw fit to send his wife instead. He made no showing that he was in any way prevented from appearing at trial by circumstances over which he had no control. Mere inconvenience or the press of personal business affairs is not deemed as an excuse for failure to appear at trial.

Id. (emphasis added).

Critchfield argues as an excuse that his failure to appear at trial was in part due to the failure of his prior counsel, Wesley Sine, who was present at a telephonic conference call with the Court when the trial was scheduled, and who remained counsel to Critchfield for nearly one month after the trial was scheduled. Critchfield's then-counsel's failure to notify his own client of the trial dates is certainly not an excusable event that warrants the setting aside of the Judgment in this matter. The case of Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker, 513 P.2d 429 (Utah 1973), is directly on point in this regard. In Parker, the Utah Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's refusal to set aside a judgment on the basis of excusable neglect. The Court noted that "the movant must show that he has used due diligence and that he was prevented from appearing by circumstances over which he had no control." Id. at 431. In finding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion, the Supreme Court reasoned:

In the instant action, defendant was informed in February that the matter would probably be set for trial in early autumn; he also knew of the irregular hours during which he was present in his home. His failure to contact his counsel under such circumstances could reasonably be considered as not constituting due diligence by the trial court. Defense counsel was informed in early May of the trial setting in September, his belated efforts ten days prior to trial to contact his client, particularly when there is no allegation as to the means of communication utilized, might reasonably be considered as not indicating due diligence. Since defendant's conduct was not entirely inexcusable, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to relieve defendant of the judgment.

Id. (emphasis added). Accordingly, the trial court in the instant case was justified in not considering the failings of Critchfield's counsel an "excusable event" warranting setting aside the judgment. See also Parke-Chapley Constr. Co. v. Cherrington, 865 F.2d 907,

913 (7th Cir. 1989) (stating, “attorney errors such as preoccupation with other matters, irresponsibility of counsel, tactical decisions and misreading of procedural rules” do not rise to the level of “excusable neglect”).

In sum, Plaintiffs should not be prejudiced by the inexcusable conduct of Critchfield’s prior counsel, the failure of Critchfield’s alleged safety net of friends to exercise diligence in checking on the status of trial, or of Critchfield’s own failure to timely checking his mail while he was out of town. The facts and circumstances support the trial court’s refusal to set aside the judgment on the basis of “excusable neglect,” and accordingly, the trial court’s decision should be affirmed.

C. (ISSUE 3). THE ISSUE OF THE ADEQUACY OF THE COURT’S FINDINGS WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL

In order to preserve an issue for appeal[,] the issue must be presented to the trial court in such a way that the trial court has an opportunity to rule on that issue. . . . This requirement puts the trial judge on notice of the asserted error and allows for correction at that time in the course of the proceeding. For a trial court to be afforded an opportunity to correct the error "(1) the issue must be raised in a timely fashion[,] (2) the issue must be specifically raised[,] and (3) the challenging party must introduce supporting evidence or relevant legal authority." Issues that are not raised at trial are usually deemed waived.

438 Main Street v. Easy Heat, Inc., 2004 UT 72, ¶ 51, 99 P.3d 801 (citations omitted)

(emphasis added).

Critchfield argues on appeal that the findings of fact are not sufficient to support the judgment against Critchfield. However, this issue was not raised as part of Critchfield’s Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside the Judgment. Appellant sets forth certain “facts” in his “Statement of Facts” which appear to be “relevant” to the issue of the

adequacy of the findings, and refers to some of these facts in his argument on Issue 3. See Appellant's Brief pp 7-8, 14. The record citation given by Appellant for these "facts" is "R. 777-809," listed in the docket Index prepared by the Second District Court in conjunction with this appeal, as: "Affidavit of G. Lawrence Critchfield in support of motion for relief from judgment." However, the "facts" attributed to this Affidavit are not, in fact, set forth in this Affidavit, rather, they were set forth in the Affidavit submitted in support of Appellant's Reply Brief, listed in the Court Index at 925-944. These facts were used in response to Plaintiffs' argument that Defendant never even attempted to argue that he had a "meritorious defense" as required in a Motion to Set Aside the Judgment. This prong is only reached if the threshold questions of mistake, and inadvertence are met, which the trial court determined he did not meet. See State ex rel. Utah State Department of Social Servs. v. Musselman, 667 P.2d 1053, 1055-1056 (Utah 1983).

Even where an order on a Rule 60(b) motion is appealable, the appeal is narrow in scope. An appeal of a Rule 60(b) order addresses only the propriety of the denial or grant of relief. The appeal does not, at least in most cases, reach the merits of the underlying judgment from which relief was sought. Appellate review of Rule 60(b) orders must be narrowed in this manner lest Rule 60(b) become a substitute for timely appeals.

Franklin Covey Client Sales Inc. v. Melvin, 2000 UT App. 110, ¶ 19, 2 P.3d 451

(quoting 12 James Wm. Moore et al. Moore's Federal Practice § 60.68[3] (3d ed. 1999)).

At best, Critchfield set forth certain facts in his Reply Memorandum before the trial court, presumably to support the contention that he would have had a "meritorious defense" to Plaintiffs' allegations were he allowed to put on evidence as such, as required

under Rule 60. See State ex rel. Utah State Department of Social Servs. v. Musselman, 667 P.2d 1053, 1055-1056 (Utah 1983). However, Critchfield's argument on appeal that: "The trial court erred when it awarded damages against Critchfield personally and awarded punitive damages without making adequate findings to support the conclusion of fraud and inadequate findings to support the amount of punitive damages awarded," was not preserved below. This argument, attacking the damages and the sufficiency of the evidence, would have been the subject of a Rule 59(a) Motion ("excessive or inadequate damages," (a)(5), "insufficiency of evidence to justify verdict" (a)(6)), which was required to be brought within ten days of the judgment. As such, this issue was not timely raised, and is not properly before the Court on appeal, and does not provide a basis for reversal or remand.

Moreover, even if Appellant has somehow preserved this argument for appeal, Appellant has failed to marshal the evidence in support of the trial court's findings.

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